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FOREWORD

This history of Diptford Parish Hali is limited by the primary sources
available within the Parish for its compilation. In particular, no Hall
Committee minutes for the years 1920-1941, or for 1971~ 1979 have been
located. [t has been suggested that the Devon Record Office may hold
the relevant documents, but this avenue has not been explored.

Despite these limitations it is hoped the history will provide a valuable
historical archive for the Parish Hall Management Committee and a
useful secondary source of reference for future authors.

The original Hall, built in 1920, was replaced in 1992. This history does
not extend beyond the opening of the ‘new’ Hall.  The documentary and
pictorial record of the ‘new’ Hail is rich, and can be readily available to
anyone wishing to take the history beyond 1992.

A Redfern
3 November 2004




DIPTFORD PARISH HALL

The Hall's Foundation

This indenture made the thinteenth day of Oclober One Thousand nine hundred
and twenty Between George Augusfus Northey of the Manor House Diptford in the
Counly of Davon Auclioneer on the one parf end Thamas FParry of the Recfory in
the Parish of Diptford aforesaid Clerk in Holy Orders Emest Newman of Creber
Farm in the Parish of Dipiford aforesaid Farmer and the said George Augusitus
Northey on the ofher part Withesseth as follows that is to say:-" (1)

50 it began; the nineteen clauses that foliow in the handwritten document make

interesting reading.

The dead conveyed to the Trustees, free of any consideration a parcel of land being part
of a field or close of land called Bottoms and Little Orchard bounded on the north by a
lane calied Water Lane, on the south and west by parts of the saki field, and on the east
by a field known as Roger's Field, together with the Hall and institute lately erscted
thereon.{2) This indicates that the original hall was built by George Northey, on his own
land, prior to October 1920, and then passed over in trust to the village. A hand.drawn
sketch delineating the iimits of the parcel of land formed part of the deed, and is
reproduced below.
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The deed went on to stipulate that, in perpetuity, the building was to be named The
Diptford Parish Hall.(3} It was ic be used as an Institute and Reading Room for the
residents of the Parish of Diptford or living within a distance of cne mile from the Parish
Church.(4}  The one mile radius just reaches North Huish church and Bickham to the
west of the Avon, whiie to the east of the river the only dwellings encompassed by the
‘one mile rule' would have been those just over the Parish boundary at Beneknowile.
Thus significant parts of North Huish were outside the limits of entitled Hall usage.
There were ofher limitations. The deed makes it quite clear that the Hall was intended to
be a Reading Room and fnstitute for the use of ail men of the age of sixteen years or
upwards, resident in the Parish or within the 'one mike’ limit, who, in the opinion of the
commitiee’ were sober, industrious and of good character, but without regard to their
politicat or religious opinions.{5)

The clear exciusion of women from those having entitlement to use the hall was nat then
uncommen.  Britain had just passed through four years of war. It had been a spldiers’
not a ciizens’ war, and many men had witnessed horrors in France, Belgium and
elsewhere, that were quite unknown to the wives and families they had feft behind in
Britain.  The shared experience set retuming soldiers apart, men only reading rooms
were often established to provide havens for them on their journey back to the normality
of civilian life. The dead reccgnized wider needs than those solituge and time for
reflection by stating “provided there is no major conflict with the primary function of the
Hall, the Committee may permit the Hail to be ugsed for entertainment, meetings and
recreation of men aged sixteen years and upwards”, and this eould be further extended to
their wives, children and friends, to charitable and to other public purposes connected
with the Parish. (6) '

There was ¢he provisa to all activities, i thai the Hali could only be used on Sundays for
refigious meetings or services, and then only with the Recter’s consent.  The ‘rector for
the time being' had further authority in that he had sole power to appeint new trustees
when necassary. [7)

The management of the frust premises was vested in a commitiee comprising the three
original trustees; George Northey, Thomas Pary and Emest Mewman, with in addition



three elective caommittee men who were ¢ be rate payers living in the Parish of Diptford,
their election taking place at an arnual public meeting.{(8) While the trustees were, for
all intents and purposes, permanent members of the management committee, there was
pravision for rotation of committee men; the nomnal perind of office being three years.
By explicitly using the term ‘committee men’ it is clear that women were not intended to

take any part in the management of the Hall. How different things were to became in
iater years as we shall see below.

The Trust Deed also required a minute book to be kept to record all the proceedings of
the committee, [8) while committee meetings had to be held not less freguently than once
in every three months.(10}

In the years immediately after the Great War many halls, similar to that in Diptford, sprang
up all over the country. They came into baing in memary of those who had suffered or
given their lives during the canflict.  They were a way of saying ‘thank you' bath to the
survivors and t¢ those whe did not come home.  Mceneay 1o fund the new halls was. raised
Iccally, and to mark the respact and gratitude of the wider public the name 'Memorial Hall
was aften applied to such developments.

On occasion Diptford’s hail has been referred to as a8 memortal hall. Most notable when,
in 1988, it was thought necessary to vary the Trust Deed discussions with the Charsity
Commission were initiated.  In the opening correspondence it is stated “the Hall was
grected as a ‘semi-pemnanent’ building to serve as a War Memarial for the Parish
following the 1914-18 war”. (11) But the Trust Deed does not support this interpretation.
While the timing of provision and the intended restricted use of the Hali provide paratlels
with memorial halls elsewhera, there are altsc marked differences. Perhaps most
impaortant is the building and the land on which it was erected was the gift of one man,
George Augustus Northey, and not that of a wider public. Arnd by stipuwiating that the hall
be named, in perpetuity, 'The Diptford Parish Hall' any link to memeoerial was implicitly
excluded by George Nerthey. The memoriat to those of the Pansh who died in the Great
War, which lies in tha Parish Church of 5t Mary the Virgin, camies no Northey name
suggesting that the ‘benefactor’s’ generosity was nat inspired by a personal family loss.




The Following Years

The documents used in researching much of this history include no Hall minutes prior to
November 1941; yei, in accordance with the Trust Deed, no less than 88 commitice
meetings would already have beer held by then. What a fascinating story those missing
minutes could tell. A story on how the use and management of the Hall had developed

over its first twanty years.
The War and Post-War Years

Certainly, from reading the available minute books, same changes are immediately clear.
However due to the constraints imposed by the trust desed the management of the Hall
remained very much a ‘closed procedure’. There were the three trustees, and the three
gommittee men, but the Chairman was firmly of the opinion that the parishicners at largs
had nc direct role in the Hall's management. While ane of the three committee men
stood down each year on rotation, they were immediately available for re-etection at the
open meeting; and there is no indication that nominations for membership of the
committee came from anywhere but from within the committee itself. If this was reaily
the case there would have been littie sense of 'ownership’ amongst the parishioners.

A battered minute book, covering the period 1841 to 1970 provides a window through
which we can view to operation of the Hall over the War and Post War period. Dated
extracts from those minutes, with camment where appropriate, are reproduced below.

On 22 August 1841, at a Parish Hall Committee meeting, attended by oniy three of the
six strong committee, the Rector stated '£15 had besn recsived (from the Educational
Department) for last yaar's rent and said the Department were prapared to do oulside as
well as inside repairs.  This was considered salisfactory.’ At this time the Hall was
heing used as an evacuees' scheool room, but social functions were also taking place.
The minutes go on to recort — 'The guestion of breakages alf funclions was then
discussed. i was undersicod that when the Hall was hired for vanious purposes no
breakages were paid for. Al a recent event damage (o the value of 30/~ was incumed,
and this amount had been paid from the proceeds. It was resolved that this rule should
be observed in future.” Alhough not tetally clear this seems to place respensibility for
breakages on the hirer. But this was wartime Britain.  Replacement crockery, cutlery



and household linen was in short supply and controls were in place.  The Utility Symbol
was about to be introduced, indicating that the itetn conformed te the restrictions imposed
on the manufaciure of household items, and indeed other fiems such as clothing.
Replacement of the breakages would often have to been through the sacond hand trade.

The Annual Meeting of the Parish Hall and Ratepayers, held on the 10th November 1841,
appears to have been attended only by the Rector, two committee members, and Miss
Clapp as the secrefary. But as the only item on the agenda was to elect ane member to
the Hall Committee the public lack of interest is unsurprising. In the event Mr Bata, who
was on aclive service, was re-elected on to the commities.  Both committee meetings
during 1842 were poorly attended, perhaps aclive service being the reason, and at the
Annual Meeting on 19 Navember 1842 a Mrs Homeil was elecied as ‘committeeman’.
The male bastion had been breeched.

Comment is merited at this point, as there are parailels. Through the War the compiler of
this history was attending & boys’ schonl. As with the Parish Hall Commitiee, the school
had lost staff members to the forces and, reluctanily, was forced to take on a few female
teachers. This was obviously against the grain for the establishment, and we weare
required to address any ferale teacher as ‘Sir’.

An interesting pelnt appears in the minutes for 19™ June 1943. The Rectlor referred to —
‘The Performing Rights Licence which had been laken out, under compulsion, and
axplained this should impose a fee of 5~ on evary musical enfertainment hekd in the Hall'
And later in the same minutes — Yhe Secretary reported that £1 had been paid for hira of
the Halt for a Whist Drive and Dance due to a misunderstanding regarding the use of the
piano. The Rectar asked that it might be clearly understood the fee for hire of Hall for a
fong night was £1-7s-6d ne deduction being allowed in view of the piana or any other
furnilure nof being used.’ Whether use of the pianao for a dance consiituted ‘musical
entertainment’ would perhaps depend on the guality of the rendition!

Recalling this was a period of wartime shortages the minutes continue ‘Mr Newman said
he had been reguesied o make en enquiry as fo the lack of equipment at the Hall such
as fag cloths, tea pofs, trays sic. The Recior replied this equipment should be provided



by the organisers or promoters of any enterfainment held at the Hall'. Ciearly a malter of

‘bring your owrny'.

The next meeting was ten manths later, on 5" February 1845, when it was recorded that
Mrs Horrell had died. The breech af the male bastion proved short and un-sustained.
The minute book takes us to 9th December 1970 without further female membership of
the committee.

By June 1945 the War in Europe was over, and from the start of the new schooi year the
Hall was no longer required as a classraom. The County Education Commitiee still
wished ta use the Hall for the Schoo! Meals Service. Few, if any. of the children
attending school would not have had school lunch.  Food raticning was to continue for
many years; indeed it would become more severe as bread was rationed for the first time
in 1946, a year after cessation of hostilities. Packed lunches were hardly an option.  The
Education Committee sought a reduction in rent, but this was rejected; it remained £15 a
year with the County still being responsible for repair of the building. This was sensible.
It was not only food that was in short supply, and aithough litte maintenance was being
carried out the Local Authority stoad more chance of obtaining materials than the Hall
Committee. An estimate for essential repairs had been given but the minutes (19 Jul 45}
record “costs had increased out of all proportion since esfimate was given”. And a year
later "nothing hed heen with regard to the work which was the liabllity of the Education
Department....the Hall was deteriorating for want of aftention” (30 Apr 45). Progress was
indeed slow as indicated by “with reference fo repairs to the Hall.....the County Architect
would meake an inspectian in the near future to see what could be done” {26 Sep 46).

The difficulties of every day Iife in the immediate post war period are further revealed by
the minute “the possibility of some heating arangements ai the Hell for evening
funictions...... was discussed. It was fthought one of the stoves in the Hall could be
utitized. ...if the necessary fuel could be obtaimed” (26 Sep 48). Application would
subsaguently be made to the Fusl Office, but there is no indication whether or not this
was successful.

The tale of 'shortages’ continues. At the Annual Meeting on 10th November 1947 the
rector reported ‘“the carefaker Mrs Stone...wished fo resign..owing (0 4 Jack of



equipment___and an inadequale safary’. There were clear cost implications and it is
recorded "if Mrs Stone consented fo continue. . .the Hall Commitiee would have lo provide
more equipment and ravise the scale of payment....this would necessifafe higher charges
for letting the Hall...charges had nol been revised since 1940

This Annual Meeting of Parish Hall Committee and Ratepayers was well attended, and
the minutes extend to three pages in the minute book. The objects for which the Hall
was built ‘as an ingtitute and Reading Room for the use of all men of the age of sixteen
years or upwards’ were discussed, and there is a sense that a far wider use was being
sought. Certainly the use of the Hail as a school room and for the scheal meals service
extended way bayond the original primary objects. Changes had been made; more
wolld have to be accepted. At the same meeting it was minuted, in response to an
inquiry — from the floor - ‘the Balance in Hand was £1719-3s-11d" but this would have been
less than £5 if ‘afi expenditure and cast of repairs had been the Nabilily of the Hall
Committae’. Clearly the County Education Committee had done something at last.

Ahout this Lime the minutes become far more defailed than previously, provicing a
fascinating window through which to view Parish life at the time. The Hall Committee
minutes for 12" January 1948 covered not only the caretaker's terms of reference and
revised letting charges but also the state of the Hall's equipment. A decision was made
o ‘obtain one hundred cups and saucers, one hundred small plaies and three dozen
packs of playing cards’. There were broken chairs and table which Mr Stone, doublless
husband of the caretaker, had offered to repair.  Mr Stone ‘stggested that the old piano
at the back of the Hall might be ufiised for the repair work', but ‘the Commiitee agreed it
would be advisable o at first decide if the instrument was of any use before it was
destroyed”.  Mr Stone had also asked if he could use the ‘waste land outside the Hall
for poultry keeping. but this request was tumed down.

At the next Hall Committee meeting, on 26th July 1948, it was reported ‘that the tables,
chairs and the pianc had been repaired at a cost of £107. To put that into context, £10 in
1948 was the equivalent of about £500 in today's money (2004}

The next Annual Meeting tock place on 18" November 1948. A change of attiiude was
apparent. ‘Whereas at easlier Annual Meetings it had been made quite clear fo the



Ratepayers that the only purpose of the meeting was to elect the Hall Commitiee, on this
accasion the minutes show that the Rectar fook the opportunity to ‘place various matters
before the mesting’. These related fo the wider use of the Hall and to the improvements
that had been made with regard to the Hal's equipment. The Rector then ‘proceeded to
speak about an injurious statement brought to his natice regarding the disposal of a
bifliard table at the Hail. He referred lo the minutes of the meeling in which the
Committee agreed to advertise the billiand table as it had deleriorated and seemed o be
of iittle or no use at the Hall'" The minutes then go on te state “In a Jater meeting i was
sean that the Commitiee agreed the table should be sofd for the sum of £8, this amourt
being traced in the curment account.  The Recfor assured the Committee all these
statemnents were correct and during the time he had been Treasurer aif money received
had been canscienticusly devoted to the different objects for which it had been intended .
The minutes show that ‘the Commitiee supporied fhis remark and expressed regret thal
such libellous statements without cause had been made’.  Unforiunately the minutes are
quite sitent about any Commitiee discussion relating to a pilliard table.

The Rector, Reverend Sutton, had been chaimman of the Hall Commities for 23 years,
and the next meeting, on 19® January 1949, was his last before retirement. The Rector
pointed out ‘a few items that would need attention in the near future. With reference lo
the Electric Light Engine a new pulley band would shortly be required, also the poles
carnying the cable thmugh the churchyard required adjusting.  The question of getting
sameone responsible to sfart the engine would aiso have fo be considered”.  This maiter
was considered shartly after, at a mesting of the Hall Commitiee on 17" February 1948,
The minutes record ‘Service for the Flectric Light Engine was then discussed and the
problem of getting sormeone responsible was debated.....some trouble had ariseh over
the manipuiation of the engine at a W Drive and Dance {these two functions may not
seerm mutually compatible today, clearly 1949 was different) the previous week with the
resull that an account of 12s-10d had to be met by the Church and Hafl to repair the
damage’.  The minutes go on to record discussion regarding sharing costs with the
Church Council for running and maintaining the engine, and it was agreed that the three
Church Councilors present, namely Mr Perraton, Mr Hodge and Mr Marien be
empowered fo act on behalf of the Hall Commitfes’.  This is an interesting insight into
now the Hall was run. Miss Clapp would have been secretary to both the Parcchial
Church Council and the Parish Hall Committee, and only twa members of the Hall



Committee were not alse on the Church Council.  The Hall was thus firmly in the grip of
the Church. Whether this suited all ar even the majority of the Rafepayers is a matter of
speculation.

What seems clear is that the outgoing rector impased rather a dead hand on the Hall
Comrmittee. He chaired his last brief meeting on 19" January 1949 and in the next four
months the Hall Committee met four times with Mr Newman in the chair. Whereas the
earlier minutes show little action by the Cammittee, those without benefit of clergy spread
to ten foolscap pages and are brimming with activity.  All then goes quite until the Annual
Meeting of Ratepayers and Parish Hall in November under the new rector. We may
assume the interregnum was over sometime in May or Juna.

Not anly had the Hall Committee met frequently, much business was completed. There
was the Eiectric Light Engine, already mentioned above. A proposal to start adult
education classes through the Deven Education Committes was progressed.
Improvements and repairs to the Hall were put in hand; these included forward planning
to ‘da something about the roof, which was in a poor state of repair. The Hall was used
for the issue of Ration Books; this had previously taken place at the Rectory, and also for
the collection of rates for the Parish of Diptforg.

The Hall Committee next met on 3™ November 1848, immediately after the Annual
meeting with the ratepayers. Estimates for reroofing the Hail had been received as
follows: ‘Heavy gauge corrugated iron - £112, Cedar wood shingles £130, Blue Asbestos
slate £140. Builders comments as folfows. 1. iron is inciined to be noisy diring stormy
weather and would need painting penodically. 2. Shingles — owing o the close proximity
of the Rectory trees moss and vegetation would accumulate and fhis would fend fo
shorten the iife of the shingle. 3. Blue Asbesios siste are used in considerable
quanlities for dwellings and buildings baing very light they would not impose any stress on
the wails. This was recormmended by the builder. (sic) The Committee accepted the
estimate for blue asbestos. How different from today, with blue ashestos known 1o pose
a health hazard.

Noting that the Hall had accepted the most expensive estimate for roof works it is
appropriate 1o look ai the state of the Hali's finances. It was recorded, in the minutes of



the Annual Meeting, that the current account balance in hand was £131-7s8-10d, a little
short of the approved expense. But there was an undisclosed sum in the National Fixed
Interest Trust.  Unfortunately this was still in the name of the previous treasurer, the
former Rector, Rey Sutton, and the Commitiee seemed uncertain how to ‘get their hands’
on jit. A year later, at the next Annual Mesting, it was recorded that ‘the National Fixed
inferest Trust..was an investment....consisfed of 50 cerificates ...worth... . £83-35-5d.
Sa, with redemption of these assets, the Halt had enough money for the new roof.

The Hall GCommitiee Minutes of 3™ November 1949 record discussion on ‘the Devan
County Education Commiltee's responsibility for repairs fo the Hall' but ‘no
correzpondence other than minutes were avallable’ and resolved 'lo purchese & conlainer
for the use of documents and comespandence in connechion with the Half.  The intent to
sesk a contribution from Devon County is clear from the minutes.

Quite separately, the question of ownership of the strip of road in from of the church is
obliquely mentioned in the same minutes; ‘arrangements were being made to repair the
road oulside the Church. A load of tarmac had been ordered for the purpose...any
surpius .. .could be used for the road by the Helf.  But it was considered this was a
matter far the Parish and District Councils to take up.

The close relationship betwesn Church and Hall is further revealed in the minutes of a
Hall Committee meeting on 15" April 1950.  The minutes record ‘Devorr County
Fducation Committee couid accept no responsibility in this mafter (Hall reof)’. And
arrangements were in hand for & Whist Drive and Dance in aid of the Bell Fund, but as
the Hall was in need of funds the Hall should take precedence. This was to be the last
recorded Committee meeting for three years.  In July 1953 the new reclor, the Reverend
Mousley, was to hold his second Hall Committee mesating. It was also his {ast for he told
the Committee it would be the last time he would preside as he was about ta leave the
Parish. It was the unsafe condition of the wiring in both Church and Hall, and the urgent
need for rewiring, that necessitated the meeting. The minutes indicate the insutation had
perished in several places and there was no connection of the Hall system to earth.
Three months later a tender, from Cousing Brothers, to rewire the Hall and Church
supplies was approved at & joint meeting of the Church Council and Hall Commitiee.

0



All then goes quiet for a further three years, when on 23rd May 1856 Reverend Birition
chaired the Commitiee for the first time ‘since his advent to the Paristy. The minutes of
the Iast meeting were read confirmed and signed.  Itis a remarkable feat of memery that
members could recall what had been said three years previously. The accounts for 1853,
1654, 1955 and 1956 were presented and accepted. The requirement in the Trust Deed
to hold committee maetings not less frequently than once every three months was being
ignorad.

Interestingly the same minutes record 'the rates on the Hall seemed excessive in view of
the fact fhaf nothing was done to the road Jeading to the Hall which was still in a bad
conditiary.  Also ‘the County Engineer had recently looked af the drain in the fiekd and
informed..... that Diptford was fourth in the list for the sewerage scheme’ Further
improvements to the facilities in Diptford were an the herizon, for the minutes also record:
‘with referance to electricity coming lo the village the Reclor said, anticipating the wishes
of the Committee, the papers conceming the agresment had been signed by hini...the
rent was 154 per quarter plus the cost of units consumed...it was agreed..mains
electricity would not cost as much as fhe Lighting Plant, petrofl and other cosis
involved. ... the Recfor's action was approved’.  Earlier it has been observed that the Hall
Committee may not have been fully representative of Parish opinion. Here it is seen that
the situation was in fact far less democratic.  Not only had the Committee been
effectively suspended for three years, when it did finally mest it was to sanclion measures
taken, by the Rector, without formal approval.

On 1% April 1957 there was a joint meeting of the Hall Committee and the School
Managers. The main items for discussion were the condition of the road - it still had
received no maintenance — and the Hall caretaker whose wages were paid by both the
Hall and the Devon Education Authority separately for the services they each received.
The problem was the caretaker had reached the age of sixty, and the Education Authority
wishad to retire her. How the problem was resolved is not a matter for this history, but it
is worth reflecting that the Rector was possibly chairman of both the School Managers
and the Hall Committee. This reflection & reinforced by the minute "Mr Perrafor said as
this was probably the ifast meeting for the Chairman Rev Britton hefore Jeaving the Parish
he wished fo exprass gratifude to him for all the help and cooperation he had given while

I



at Diptford’. The School Managers then retired and the meeting continued as a Hall
Management Committee.

It was 28" Navember 1957 before the new Rector. Rev Ford chaired a meeting of the
Parish Hali Committee, By this time the Hall was on mains electricity. The main itern{r,
the agenda was an application to the Carmegie Trust for a grant tc buy equipment. 1t later
became c¢lear that grants required matched funding but the Hall had no signiflcant
reserves. Over the next four months the Committee met four times. It is noted that over
the previous four years the Committee had met only four times. Perhaps the change of
incumbent was a factor. The outcame of this ‘rash of meetings’ was organization of a
farm sale to raise funding for equipment.. But it was no longer ‘matching’ funding that

was required; the application had run into difficutties.

In the minutes of a Committee meeting held on 21% July 1958 it is revealed that a letter
had been received from the MNatiomal Council for Sacial Service. The letter
recommended that the Trustess should apply ta the Charity Commission for a scheme to
be made settling the property on a suitable trust for a Village Hall.  Unless the Hall
become a charitable trust there neither Camegie nor any other grant aiding bedy would
be able to make a grant for equipment or improvements to the Hall.  Such a scheme was
finally drawn up thirty years later in 1988. It is hard to determine why it took sa long for
the advice from the National Council for Social Service {o be followed, but it has to be
recognized that once the Hall became a registered charity ‘ownership’ was vested in the
civil parish and management became democratic.  Undil that time notional “ownership’
was vested in the Rector and management was very much in the hands of church parish.
We have already seen signs that some rectors preferred the original autocracy.

Without grants the Hall had to fund itself, and that was the purpose of the farm sale. A
iist of promises, in the minutes, shows that despite the autocracy already suggested
above, the Civil Parishicners were more than willing to help the Hall out; more willing
indeed than some of the Committee for the list of donors shows surprising omissions.
Amongst the items offered were geese, a lamb, a pig, cockerels, bantams, a duck, a
churn of mitk, bags of potatoes, and ‘leads' of barley, straw, hay and logs, plus much nan
farming sale items such as fumiture, a ladies bicycle and a bottle of whisky. The venture
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deserved success, and the minutes of a General Meeting on 22™ October 1958 show that
£258-3s-9d was raised.

In the same minutes it was confirmed that no grants waukd be fathcoming uniess the Hall
had a congtitutton appropriate ta a Village Hali. Cne member of the Committes sald i
wowld be better to keep the effairs of the Hall independenf. ‘Independent of what' is not
revealed. The Rector was not quite so dismissive and ‘it was finally decided that the
Secrefary should reply (to the Natienal Council of Social Service) to the effect that the
Commiflee would be prepared to consider the suggestion, buf before any decisions were
made request that a scheme be drawn up for their consideration’. Such a lukewarm
approach would be unlikely to generate feverish activity amongst those trying to help the
Village. Thirty years on, in more enlightened times, the Hall did become a charity.” The
management of the Hall at last became representative of the users of the Hall and of the
willagers'. But at least the Hall had started to move a liftle in the right direction. There
were other moves as well. Originally at Annual meetings, Rectors had made it gquite clear
that the anly role of the ‘villagers’ was in electing a member to the Committes, and often it
was a matter of re-election; now at General meetings suggestions on a range of subjects
came from the fioor.

The minutes of a Hall Commitiee meeting on 13th November 1959 indicate that a Madel
Trust Deed had been received from the National Council of Social Service.  If was
dismissed out of hand. A proposal that 'no further negotiations shoult be made, in view
of the legal complications’ was carried.  Four lines in the minutes wipe away all the
assistance the Hall had been offered. It is unclear what the ‘legal complications’ were,
but piainly the time to transfer ‘ownership and management’ of the Hali to parishioners
would have to await more enlightened counsel. |

Enlightenment was however sought. The Camegie Trust had written expressing regret
that the Hall Committee had withdrawn their application for a grant, but left the docr open
for the time being.  This led the Committee, at a meeting of the Hall Committee on 7
April 1960, 1o revisit the ‘legal complications’.  The problem jay in a confiict in between
the wording of the original Trust Deed and that proposed by the National Council for
Social Service. Following discussion the secretary was authonzed 'fo inferview a
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Solicitor Messrs Kellock and Comish Bowden la know if the Trustees and Commitlee
wene legally in order in continuing lo abide with the original Trusf Deed.

The minutes of the Annual Meeting held on 25" November 1960 show that attendance at
Committee meetings over the year had been ‘deplsled as one Trustee and one
Committee member lived some distance from the Parish’.  in later years, under the Trust
Deed agreed with the Charity Commission, fiving in the Parish became a condition of
election onta the Hall's Management Committee.  Times do change.

A Committee meeting was held following the 1980 Annual Meeting. The minutes record
‘the Rector said... the present Trust had been examined by Messrs Kellock and Johnson
who had staled there seemed o be no reason for the new deed of management if the
Trustees did not wish to proceed with the application o the Carnegie trust grant. Al the
same time the model trust deed which the solicitor wished to examine ssemed fairly
reasanable in their opinion.  The Rector said as the Committee felf there wers many
complications in the Camegie Trust Proposals necessifaling & new Deed of Management
it had been decided to proceed no further’.  The ‘complications’ remain un-stated.  For
the time being, a more inclusive form of democratic management was rejected in favour

of one of aligarchy, verging at times on autocracy, as provided by the Trust Deed of 1520.

This observation in na way infers that the Management Committee did net have the best
interasts of the Hall's users at heart. Over a period of two years much was done in
improving the fabric, appesrance and equipment of the building. Repairs eoffected
included ‘facking up and supporling surken porfions of the buiding; fitling exta
supporting beams and jolst. (Annual Report 1961) But such measures could only have
short ferm effect, and eventually, as it proved, the building would have to be rep'lac:ed.
indeed a year iater ‘jt was observed that the floor of the Hall was very pear in place but
nothing could be done...as renewal..would be a very expensive ftam’ {Committee
minutes 22 Nov 62).

lt had become practice for the Committee to meet only once a year, immediately afier the
Annual Meeting. The minutes are routing, the major concem seems 1o have baen
difficulty in getting a carstaker, though the condition of the floor was becaming a worry.
The 1565 meeting minutes show it was decided to consult local builders regarding floor
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repairs and ‘tha Contractors selected were Messrs A Blake and Son, Diptford; Messrs C
& W Haliett, Moreleigh; Sftaverton Builders' . Estimates for repair, received from the
'selacted contractors’, were discussed at a committee meeting on 22™ July 1966, when it
was also decided to seek tenders from Messrs C J Blake, Totnes and Messrs Blight and
Scohle, Buckfastieigh.  Vhen & came to the question of how fo pay for the work the
treasurer said ‘he could not say definftely what sum wauld be avaifable’. It was finally
agreed that ‘the Chairman should wiite {io the County).. .and request that & grant be
made’. The request was later rejected by the County but an increase in rent was offered,
and accepted, instead.

Through early 1967 there was a flurry of activity, with Committee Meetings being held on
27" January, 27" February, 16" March and, 28" Apiil.  The minutes tell a convoluted
story which may be summarized as follows. The estimate from Mr A Blake for renewal of
the fioor was favourad, and a cantract was eventually signed. But Mr Blake also
recommended repairs to the structure of the Hall where it was deteriorating. The planned
floor repair was scaled down to allow for the structural repairs, now considered .to be
urgent. Mr Blake had been right to identify the need for structural repairs for the 27"
February 1967 Committee minutes reveal 'dunng the day the heavy wind and rairr storm
had caused additional havoc at the Hall.....a window had been blown oul and the end walf
had been loosaned.  Mr Blake had heen summoned lo biock the window and prop the
end wall in order that the school children could have their meal there'.

By co-incidence a Cammittee meeting had been arranged for the day of the storm, not to
consider the new damage but letters recsived from the County conceming deceration of
the kitchen. In view of the increase in rent the County wished the Hall Committee to
contribute towargds work on the kitchen. The coin had been turned. Totally responsible
for the proposed wark on the kitchen or not, the day before Mr Padden {County) had
apparently asked Mr Blake {Halls contractar for the floor) to fag afi the pipes in the
kitchen, enclosa them in hardboard and give an estimate far the walls to be painled with a
coat of emulsion’.(minutes for 27 Feb 87). Some disquiet was expressed that the
County was presuming on the rights of the Commifiee’.

In a way the storm damage was a Godsend. A claim was made against the
Ecclesiastical Insurance Company, who subsequently made a contribution of £8( towards
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the cost of buikding repairs (minutes 28 Apr 67).  The reduced work on the floor was
carried cut later in the year. The Hall Committee made no contribution towards the work
on the kitchen.  An eventful year ended with a report that the Hall roof was leaking
{minutes 6 Dec 7).

There was one Committee meeting in 1968, but no Annuat meeting, and 'normal service
was resumed at the Annual mesting on 10" November 1868, the first attended by the
new Rector, Rev Peter Wilis. The last entry in the minute book is for the Annual meeting
in December 1970.

The minutes for the next nine years have not been located.  This takes the history on to
1879, when there were stili three trustees, namely: Reverend Pater Willis, Henry
Perraton and Ivor Cracker; the three committee men were Mormman Preston, Stan Wall
and Mrs Mary Priddey.(12) The secretary to the Committee was still Miss Clapp.
While Miss Clapp had been ever present as Secretary for sixty years, until the
appointment of Mary Priddey to the committee, Mrs Horrell's brief wartime servica apan,
the Hall had remained esseniially a mak: preserve. But the Hall was no longer an
institute and reading room for men.  Times had changed.

To illustrate this point, the March 1879 minutes record a report from Mr Smale, Head
Teacher of Diptford Primary School.  Apparently for the next two years the combined
Junior School classes would be 48 and 50 pupils respectively. This represenied a bulge
for the school, progressing through from a grawing Infant Department.  Mr Smaie sought
to make the Hall a permanent classroom, for seven terms, starting immediately. While
this may seem to indicate some lack of forward nlanning we are not party to any
discussions that may already have taken place between Mr Smale and the local
education authority. He could have been looking for a solution for sometime, and the
pracedence of Llsiﬁg the Hall as a classroom had already been set dunng the war.
Certainly the school received portable buildings a few years later.

The records show that at this time the finances of the Hall wers barely on an even keel, in
fact the Hall was some £80 in debt, and was being kept afleat through loans made by cne
of the trustees. The Trust Deed required all money received from rent and lettings 1o be
applied in maintaining, repairing and improving the Hall, to paying expenses and to
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praviding bocks, periodicals and other things that may be required for the purposes of the
Hall. {13) At least £300 was spent on materials for work on the Hall in 1979 and a further
£172 the following year. These were considerable sums when compared against the
Hal's annual income. The cost of maintaining and repairing the Hall had left no scope
for any improvemenis. At the time the temporary income boost arising thraugh the
School's use of the Hall must have been seen as a welcome windfall, and by the following
vear the Hall was indead just back in the black. And so it remained, just in the black, as
the following evidence shows.

In 1981, the response to a reguest from the Women's’ Institute was, “The Hall funds
would not permit the purchase of stacking chairs...Parish Council shoukd be asked for a
grant towards the chairs".(14) And two years later "The Hali Commitiee was not in a
position to help financially towards minor kitchen improvermnsenis™.(15} The School was
using the kitchen to prepare school meals, and there is frequent mention in the minutes of
negotiations between the Hall Committee and Devon County Council regarding kitchen
equipment and maintenance. The County had installed a chip fryer and, whether there
was concermn at possible fire risk or not, the insurers were invited to visit and make an
insurance vaiuation on the Hall. To many who can remember tha cendition of the ‘old hall’
in 1983 it wili come as a surprise that a valuation of £50,000 was agreed.(16) Was it a
case of ‘being worth more dead than ative’? Poasibly for at a committee meeting later in
the year the Rector said “he had sent a reply {fo Davonr Counfy Council) stating that the
Hall was not in a position to find £250, or a substantial par, to redecorate the kitchen”.
{17) But at the sarne committee mesting the receipt of a donation of £100 from the
Diptford Horticultural Society is noted. Indeed by 1985 the reserves were rising steadily,
and it seemed as if the Hali had tumed the comer, so much so thai extension to the Hall

was being discussed. {18}

Apart from finance it is clear that, during the early eighties, heating the hall had become a
major matter of concern for the Management Committee.  The overhead radiant heaters
were inagequate and Calor gas heaters were introduce to provide an ‘instant boost when
needed. The minutes make litle mention of who were the users of the Hall, but there is
one clue. About this time a Youth Club was started, in the Hall, by a Mr Cooper from
Curtisknowle.  Meeting one evening a week there was no confiict, apparently with either
the Playgroup or the Brownies, both of whom met earlier on the same aay, but Senior
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Badminton declined to change their usual slot.  How this was resolved is not recorded.
It is also clear that the schaol was stili using the Hal for lunches, and the Women's
tnstitute were aiso both Hall users and benefactors. Doubtless there were other regular
and occasional users. Developing local needs had, over time, greatly changed the
function of the Hall from those detailed in the original Trust Deed.

Seventy Years on - the New Hall is Conceived

Any guestion of ownership had become irrelevant by 23 Mavember 1987 when a well
attended open meeting was held to discuss the fuiure of the Hall. ~ The immediate
auicome was election of a sub-committee, chaired by Vic Holloway and comprising: Peter
Stewart, l.es Talliday, Mrs Elizabeth Hallet, Mrs Janset Bew, Bill Vincent, Mrs Batris and
Mrs Palmer. The sub-committee was given specific terms of reference namely:

Ta carry out a survey of the Hall,

To determine what repairs were required to the structure of the Hall,

To consider possible extension to the Hall,

To assess whether such exiension/repairs were worthwhile, and

To report on whether a new hall should be built.(19)

tn & W

The sub-commitiee worked with commendable speed and in a preliminary report, dated
11 February 1988, (20) advised the Hall Committee that "the sub-committee belisved that
the time was ripe to consider the provision of a new hall”. The sub-commiltes further
stated they thought the cost of a new hail wouid be batween £60,000 and £B80,000, and
that taking account of grants that may be available some £30,000 would need to be
raised locally. At the time the Hall's accaunts show that it had a reserve of some £2000,
so there would be a long way to go in raising the necessary funding. A need to :ﬁhange
the constitution of the Hall was also recognized.

Given this advice the Hall Commitiee responded immediately. The following day Bryan
Ostier, acting on behalf of the Committee, made initial written contact with the Charity
Commission setting out the problem and seeking the Commission’s guidance. (21

A further public meeting, attended by 34 parishioners, was held on 8 March 1988 (22}
when a proposai to build a new hall was passed by a majorify vote of 33 to 1. Als0
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agreed was a proposal to go ahead with constitutional change, and a finance committee
was elected to spearhead fund raising activities, Those initially on the finance
committee were: Mrs Val Haddy, Mrs Gwynyth Welford, Mrs Claire Wiliamson, Mrs
Harris, Mrs Janet Bew, Mrs Margaret Colwill and Mrs Ring; Mrs Pam King !ater joining as
interim secretary. it should be noted that, as originally formed, this was an all women
committee; indicative of how far the Hall had developed over the past seventy years, ang

confirming the need for constitutional change.

A number of those elected to the finance committee could also be taken to represent
prganizations using the Hall, including; the Parochiai Church Councit, the Women's
Institute and the History Society. But it was recognized that some users were not
represented. These, listed as; the Playgroup, Friends of Dipiford School, the Tennis
Association {Amenity Trust), the Horticultural Society and the Cricket Club, would be
invited to nominate representatives to sarve on this committee.

With the existing Hall Management Committee still in place, and cthers co-opted to
progress fund raising, development planning and constitutional change it was a matter of
‘all hands to the pumps’. The Parish, or at least most of it for there were still detractors of
the proposals, was gaivanized into action. It was recognized that the restrictive nature of
the original trust deed created an cbstacle that would have 1o be removed if there was to
be any hope of a successiul application for grant aid.  Without substantial grant aid there
waould be little prospect of Diptford ever getting the new hall that was so widely desired.

A New Constltution

In the initial approach to the Charity Cammission the hope was expressed that “the
Commissioners will be able io make a scheme to modernise the Trust on the lings of a
normal Village Hall Charitable Trust.".(23)  The Commissioners had clearly been this
way before and progress was quick.  Draft schemes passed to and fro as minor
modifications were incorporated to marry the particular needs of Diptford with the general
form of such trusts. it had been proposed by the Hall Management Commitiee that
there should be eight elected members of the new management committee alongside
seven members representing the Hall'es main user organizations, but the Commissioners
painted out “it is usually a requirement of local authorities giving grant aid that the
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Committee of the Hall in questien should have at least as many members representing
iocal user organizations as it has elected (and co-opted} members”.(24) Seaven elected
and seven rapresantatives was agreed upon, theugh interestingly the number of elected
members was reduced to six by a Supplemental Order in 1994 at Diptford’s request.

The scheme aisc states “the land with the building therecn ...... is veated in the Official
Custodian for Charities for all the estate.... belonging to... the Chanty".(23) This was a

pravisicn that required the appraval of a majority of the existing committee. There was
ng digsent as all six gave their approval,

By QCctober 1988 the scheme had been finalized, and all that was left to be done was to
provide praper publicity to the propesal.  This was achieved through notice being
published in the Westarn Morning News and being exhibited for at ieast 21 days on
suitable public notice boards in the Parish. Those chosen were in the Church Porch and

the Parish Notice Board, with the scheme being available for inspection.

The schedule, forming the fina! part of the scheme as approved on 14 Novermnber 1988,
firat describes the land and property comprising the Diptford Parish Hall, and then records
the Hall's financial assets on 1 November 1588 as being £1439.05 cash on deposit
account and £808.11 cash on current account. The fask of raising the necessary
funding for a new hall was going to be formidable.

From first approach regarding a new constitution, on 12 February 1988, o compietion an
14 Novernber 1988 is a remarkably short time in which to achieve so much, and is a
cradit to all concemed.  Of course, a new canstitution wouid have been appropriate, at
this time, even without a new hall, but & was the identified need for a new hall that had
been the catalyst.

Planning a New Hall

in March 1888 there were 407 names on the electoral roil for the Parish of Dipiford, but
only 34 persons had attended the public meeting held on the eighth of that month.  If a
new hall was to be huilt then widespread support throughout the Parish would be
essential.  One way to spread the Tacts’, as seen by those in faveur of the praoject, was
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‘sports field' as this area was already in community use.  But he doubted whether the
County Engineer would approve vehicular access. Looking even further ahead, the
Pianning Officer interestingly foresaw little objection ta a temparary building, for use as a
hail during any rebuild, being erected eithar in the car park in front of the Church, or in the
Oid Rectory garden adjacent to Water Lane, subject to the landowner's permission baing
obtained.

It later became apparent that outline planning permission would not be reguired if a
replacement hall was built on the existing site. This more or less confirms tha view that
the Hall is in the best available position within the existing village envelope. Such
considerations perhaps did not exist in 1919 when the first hall was erected. The
foliowing comment by Peter Willis, Rector, and therefore Trustee and Hali Committee
Chairman in 1888 is worth noting:

In comparison with the Mark | varsion, there seems to have been Joss fafling out
over the Mark Il version...! know I will not convince everyone but | am going {o try.
All | know is that the village and community way back in 1918-1819 were
campietely divided and in fact it was the rminority that won.  QOurs is not the ideal
5itg we know but if things had gone right in 1918, the Parish Hall would have been
built next to the Old Bakery in Diptford’s Square. But that was a minor problem, for
the quamel became ‘a stone hall in a few years when we have rised the money, ar
something cheapser now'. The stone was offered free, delivered to site; tradesmen
offered their labour free; but to no avail. "We want a hali now' won the day — and it
has never been forgotten. (27)

We will return to this article later in the histary.
Fund Raising

it had been noted in the first Parish Hall Fund Newsletter that “some 24 Devon villages
have built halls in recent years using Grant Schemes."(28) This clearly established the
way ahead. In broad ferms grants could be available totalling 70% of the cost of a new
build hall, but with & maximum grant of £70,000. With a new hall costing ‘as little as
£100,000" sorme £30,000 would have to be raised locally.  Advice was sought from those
villages that had recently gone through a similar fund raising process.  One such village
was Membury where, in addition to varied fund raising activities about 80 to 70 donations
were made, mostly in the form of deposited covenants. Diptford, by comparison, was a
very small parish and provided a different situation, In 1988, when fund raising
commenced, there were only 407 names on the electoral roll, and just over 18Q dweliings
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in the parish. There could be little expectation that deposited covenants would form the
rajor element of fund raising in Diptford. Indeed it later became apparent that a
number of parishicners, amongst those who may have been in a position to make
depasited covenants, were opposed to building a new hall. In a way the general lack of
covenants was got as it forced the majority, those Interested in a new hali, to pull
together in ather ways.

It is not possible in thig account to detail all fund raising activities that followed before the
new hall was built, but the secand Parish Hall Newsletter appeared in the next Parish
Magazine. (29) |t revealed that the finance committee was no longer an all female affair;
two committee meetings had taken place and Tony Redfern was leading the Appea
Team, while tan Clayden had undertaken to operate a Yund raising barometer, to be
located in the 'square’ outside the Rising Sun.  Unfortunately tan became unwell and was
unzble to fulfil this undertaking. Les Tolliday took up the task, constructing a
thermometer rather than a harometer. It was encouraging to see the thermometer's red
alcahol rise sieadily over the coming months. The first fund raising activity had already
laken place; a musical evening in the Haill, arganized by John and Marlene Hine, had
raised over £300. A ‘Wine and Strawberry’ evening was arranged for 11 Jung 1988 at
Larcombe Corner - this also raised over £300. The Womens' Institute planned to run
three minimarkets in the Square and two dates had been booked for a stall at the
Elizabethan Market in Totnes. Other plans included Open Gardens, Silent Aucticn and a
Fireworks Party. The ball was rolling.

Using the Parish Magazine as a source, it may be recorged that support was strang,
especially from those groups that wers regular users of the existing hall.  Various groups
such as the History Society and The Playgraup made donations from their nwn'funds,
others organized events. The Playgroup had a spansored slide, the Combined Youth
Clubs organized a hog roast, an ‘If's a Knock Out’ competition, and were paid by British
Telecom for regular cleaning of the village telephone box.  Within five months over £3000
had been raised. This progress, while encouraging, woulkd not have been enough to
finance Riptford's contribution ta a new hall, but at this stage thera had still been no calls
for individual dopations; this would not be dane until the Hall had charitable staius under a

new constitution.
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Though wide, support for the new hall was not unanimous. The 8" March 1988 General
Meeting vote to go ahead with building a new hall had been passed with 33 vates for and
anly one against, and the Parish News carried an open letter from Mr Grean, the sole
chjector.{30)

“Do Wa Need a New Hall?

{1) As far as | am aware no structural Survey of the Hall has been provided.

We therefore do not know whethar there is anything wrong of such a serious
nature that the existing hall should be dismantied

tE} We are therefare surely in no position 1o determine whether it would be less
expensive to repair the present structure and generally improve its
appearance.

{3) The estimate of £64,000 for the ¢reation of the new building will on general

axperience he exceeded when the actua! building work is done.
{4) Is the present enthusiasm going to last until £20,000 has bee collected? it

probably means that most functions in the Village for perhaps two ar three
vears will have ta be directed to this end.

{3) As a consequence all the charitable efforts of the Village wili eventually

lessen and this would be a pity.
(8) it is my opinien that charges for the use of the new Hall will be greatly

increased in order to pay for the inevitable higher maintenance.  This
wouid, | suggest, be more than the various organisations which make use of
the Hali at present minimal rates couid afforg.

{7} We are fortunate to have a Parish Hall taking into account the size of the
Village. | have been told by a County Cauncillor of the village where they
cahnot afford the upkeep of their new hall and have to hawk it to
arganisations outside the vilage in order to make ends meet. Do we want
that?

{8) The site is not by any means ideal with the difficuity of access and ~ striking
a personal note - the shambies at the bottom of Water Lane during
construction, including the felling of numeraus trees, might be acceptable in
an industrial area, but nat | suggest in a relatively quiet Deven vitlage.

| do not believe | am in a minority of one in thinking that the decision in this matter
has been made in haste and without due consideration of the peints mentioned
above.”

Rather than engage in a public debate a rebuttal of the points made was made in wnting
direct to Mr Green.

24



At a well aftended public meeting on 20" February 1989 the existing Parish Hal!
Commitiee and the Development Sub-Committee were dissolved, and a Hall
Management Committee was formed under the new constitution. {31)

With the new constituton and charitable status in place, it was time to launch the
covenant appeal. A short letter explaining the tax free aftraction of covenants was
written, and delivered by hand to every household in the Parish. Parishioners were
imvited to contact Tony Redfemn, directly or through any member of the fund raising group,

if they wished to find out mare, or progress this opportunity to contribute towards building
a new hall. H has to be said the respongse was no more than lukewamm. Foliowing up

one such lead Tony received bath an instant refusal and an invitation io attend a supper
party that weekend. It turnad out that most of the other guests were of the anti-Hall
faction. But far from being hung out ta dry it gave the Treasurer an ocppartunity to hear a
point of view different from that held by the majority of parishioners.

The majority of parishioners meanwhile demonstrated their support by aimost falling over
themaslves to organize and attend fund raising functions; these included silent auctions,
coffee morning, and fetes. For Tony Redfern, the first fund raising fete at Green Acre
was an eye opening introduction to village life.  There was none of the formal
organization usually associated with such charity events. It just came together and was
a success; that is the way Diptford works.  In parallel with these events a manthly lottery
was set up. Optimistically cafled the '300 Club’, though it never attracted that many
members, the fottery under Gwyneth Welford's management remained in being until well
after the new hall was built and functioning.

The records show that over the three financial years April 19688 to April 1892 more than
thirty thousand pounds was raised from within the parish.(22) To this could be added the
considerable benefit of high tax free interest rates applying at the time.  All concerned
could congratulate themselves on an excellent effort.  The same records shaw that some
20% of the money had been generated through covenants while fund raising activities
raised 40% as did donations. The nature of the donations made merits further comment.

A recurring entry in the donations calumn is five pound here, ten pound there, money
given by Mr and Mrs Lloyd and raised by the sale of eggs, surplus ta their domestic
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needs. When added up the hens produced £62. Every covenant, donation, fund raiging
activity was formally acknowledge in writing. It is to be hoped that the dozen ar so letiers
of acknowledgement that winged the hen's way finished up lining the walls of their coop:
allowing them to cluck over their achievement. A couple of trusts made significant
donations, and particularly generous was a major contribution from the Parochial Church
Council at a time when St Mary's urgently needed money for roof repairs.  But the
greatest donation was £5000 from the Parish Council; though very welcome this

contribution could now, with the passage of time, weil be viewed as parsimonicus.

Cf course one would not expect the Parish Council 1o have money of that sori resting in
the coffers waiting for a good cause to present itself. The standard practice in such
cases is for the parish council to borrow the money from the district council, on favourable
ierms, and for the loan to be paid back over a period of perhaps ten years, through the
parish rate. All present and immediate future rate payers thus contribute.  In Diptford's
case this is particularly relevant, as the money coniributed to what could be regarded as
the Parish's major public asset. Those new to the Parish, and having the ability to
benefit from the facility the Hall provided, would be able to feel that they oo had made
some small contribution.  Notice, it was the council tax payers that provided the donation.
The Parish Council only acied as their representatives on this matter. But everyone was
faeting their way, and hopefully lessons for the future may have been iearned.

The first meeting of the Parish Hall Management Commitiee under the new constitution
took place on 20 February 1989. The committee numbered fifieen, and was fully
committed to achieving the objective of building a new hall.  Peter Willis was elected
chairman, and other office bearers were Vic Holloway as vice chairman, Peter Stewart as
secretary, Tony Redfem treasurer, Morman Preston depuly treasurer, Val 'Haddy
bookings secretary and David Marsland as assistant secretary. Seven of the committes
were representing cther parish organizations, and irdeed three committee members atso
sat on the Parish Council, including Peter Stewart who was the Parish Council Chairman
and the Council's representative on the Hall Commitiee.  The scene is ihus set.

By February 1889 fund raising was well underway, and the matter of chtaining grants and
external capital donations was being considered by the Hall Committee.  In April the
secretary reported that “discussions had kead him to believe that Devon Gounty Council
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might be encouraged to make a capital donation towards the cost of a new hall if they
were interested in continuing to use the halt in conjunction with the schoo!” {33} In the
event this belief proved unfounded though, as we will see later, ance the hall was built

Devon County Council Education Department had a major financial role to play.

As stated grants totaliing 70% of development costs up to £100,000 could he availabls,
All the information on the lkely cost of a new hall was not then to hand, but the
unrealisable hope that the job could be completed within a couple of years still existed.
On this basis it was essential that Diptford's contribution was raised as quickly as
possible. It was recognized that the minimum £30,000 required could include donations
from the Parish Council.  Informal discussions amongst members of the ‘Hali Executive’
concludad that taking account of the success already achieved a donation of £10,040
from the Council would not be inappropriate.  With the benefit of hindsight there seems
no reason why the Parish Gouncii should nat have provided matchead funding and made a
grant of £15,000. In his capacity as Chairman of the Parish Council, and the Council's
representative on the Hall Committee, Councillor Stewart broached the subjeci of a
possible condribution at a Councii meeting held on 4 April 1988.{34) The ball was in
motion.

Advice was abtained from the Treasurer of South Hams District Council, and the record of
the naxt meeting of the Parish Cauncil shows; “It was proposed ...that this Councit does
something to help financially with the new Village Hali subject to satisfying themselves as
to the viability of the projecf’.( 35) The proposal was carriad. The record is silent on
whether this was a majority or unanimous decision; in 1988 Council Minutes were nat
published in the Parish News. It was suggested within Council that the three members
who were also members of the Parish Hall Committee may be regarded as having vested
interest and should not be allowed to vote in this matter. Such a proposition was clearly
untenable. The public hagd demonstrated overwhelming support for 2 new hall, and the
Parish Hall Committee, all either apenly elecied or nominated by an organization that was
a major user of the hall, was probably more representative of public opinion than the
Parish Council for which no election had taken place for years. Silence continued for
some months.  Though it was reportsd to the Parish Hall Committee that “in regard to
assistance from the Parish Council it is possible that a loan could be raised from the
District Counci...to be repaid by means of a penny rate, but that 1he Parish Council
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wished to hold a public meeting prior to taking such action”.{36} There is no record of
this public mesting taking place, though at the Parish Council Meeiing held on 2 Qctober
1889 there was an open forum to discuss vandalism on the Playing Fisld. 37) Why not
a similar open forum to discuss the Hall?

Fund raising continued through 1989, and by way of recognizing the wide spread support
that had heen received the Parish Hall Committee decided to fund, out of their awn
pockets, wine and mince piss to be served on Chrisimas Eve after the caral singing
around the Christmas fres. (38) This set a precedent, for wing and pies on this occasion,

that continues today.

Under the heading ‘Towards Reality’ early in the New Year the Parish News reported
*__you will be pleased to learn that...we will have just over £25,000 on December 31* in
the Parish Hall Account.  That is very good and the top of the hill is in sight....".(38)
Then in the next edition Diptford Parish Council Nofes indicate °...the decision of Diptford
Parish Council that they would raise a loan of £5,000 subject to grants being given hy thg
Community Council of Devon ang South Hams Bistrict Council®.(40) Diptford's £30,000
was now assured. |t was noi to be enough.

The £5000 donaticn from the Parish Council would be paid back over ten years, a
repayment rate averaging less than three pounds a year per household in the Parigh.
From 1892, when the Hali was built, through to 19597 Council Tax remained steady,
sometimes aven falling, and the three pounds eguated to less the half of one percent of
the total tax payable. Since 1997 Council Tax has risen dramatically, up 88% by 2003,
reducing the repayment of debt element to less than one quarter of one percent. i is
gasy to see the benefit the new hall has brought to parishioners; it is less e'asy io
recognize benefits arising from a soaring Council Tax.  When viewed in these terms the
danation becomes less than generous.  But perhaps the '‘penny rate’, mentioned earlier,
had created some form of problem for the Parish Council.

Then in the Spring of 1990 good fortune struck.  The Hall Committee chairman, in his
capacity as Rector of Dipltford, had received a telephons call from Tioxide UK Limited.
The final autcome of the conversation between Peter Willis and the representative of

Tioxide UK was to be a most generous donation towards the hall building funds.
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Although all on the Hall Committee were aware of this development, the official committee
minutes over the next few months pravide ne record.  Instead we must turn to avaitable
correspendence for the story.  In a letter to Peter Willis, Tioxide's representative writes:

*As mentioned during our telephone conversation, it is the wish of our Managing
Director, Mr Peter Karr, that you or a nominated representative receive a donation
in the form of a cheque at the forthcoming Faintmakers Conference in
Torguay."(41)

At the conference in June delegates received the foilowing information:

“The paint industry in 1990 will consume in excess of 1.5 million tons of titanium
dioxide pigments worldwide. [t is arguably the most imponitant single raw maternal
used by the industry...the element titanium as an oxide was first isolated almost
200 years ago in the South West of England by the Reverend William Gregor, a
Parish Priest with a passion for chemistry.....At the tima of this discovery Pastor
Gregor lived in the rectery in the Parish of Diptford, a parish that still exists today.

It came to the notice of Tioxide that & major fund raising campaign by the residents
of Diptford to build a new Parish Hall was underway. with comgletion of the project
in 1991 the 200™ anniversary of the discovery of titanium oxide.

The shortfall in funding to enable the project to go ahead is £15,000 and Tioxide
have agreed to contribute this sum in recognition of Pastor Gregor's work.

The cheque and a partrait of the Pastor will be presented to the treasurer of the

fund ... by the President at the pre-dinner cocktail parly this evening.”(42)
Thig was the first indication that the gift would be £15,000. And at the next Parish Hall
Committee meeting the treasurer reported “a cheque for £15,000 had been received from
Tioxide."(43) The minute goes on 1o record that “suggestians were made 1o the effect
that some of this money ocught to be set aside for investment, and the interest used for
maintenance, fumishings etc.” In retrospect these suggestions are most unrealistic.
First they assume the money would still be available after the hail was built, and second
the interest earned on £15000 would provide only a modest income.

The treasurers report to the Annual General Meeting on 24 April 1881 was upbeai. |t
roted “The thermometer in the square shows the alcohol bursting out of the top at
£45 00", and "1 am configent we are in a strong position to face the costs of rebuilding
this year™, but went on o wam “we sfill need to continue fo raise money ta ensure thal our
new hall is properly equipped, and to ensure that we retain a small but effective working
capital."{(44) The waming was justified.
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with the end in sight some complacency had sef in, not only amongst the Hall Committee
but alsc amongst those others, outside the committee, who had been so active in fund
raising. This was not helped when i was reported, at the June committee meeting, that
the contract for the new hall had been signed in June, and that “building costs would be
£96,000 and together with architects and engineers fees... etc...the total cost was likely
to be £104,000.°(45) This figure was well within the limits of funds available. The final
cost of buiding, only a few months later, was to be £126,825; and this was without
furnishings and additional fittings.  The accounts show the overall cost of the new hall
had escalated to £141,950. |t coulid have been greater, as some last minute ‘hard nosed’
hargaining with the builder and architect had successfully reduced the final
kuilder'sfarchitect's account by nearly faur thousand pounds,; simply, the Hal! did not have
sufficient funds to meet the bills presented. How did this overspend arise?

There are a number of reasons.  Use by the Schoo! has long generated a major source
of income for the Hall. At the time the contract (o build the new hall was signed the
intentions of the Local Authority regarding future use of the Hall were unclear. . Some
clarity emerged when a meeting between Devon Direct Services, School Governors and
Hall representatives took place. [t was then reported “Devon Direct Services were more
than happy to have a kitchen provided to their specification and rent this from the Hall at
an agreed rent."(46) The Hali Committee approved the upgrading of equipment and
fittings which cost about £7,000.  This extra cost was later used as a bargaining chip
when agreeing an annual rental with the Local Authority.  As a result the Hall now
benefits from a well fitted kitchen paid for by external funding.

Television programimes, such as Property Ladder and (rand Designs, on house
development and building are currently popular viewing. If there is one central iﬁeme te
these pragrammes it is the need for tight budgetary contral fo stop costs spiralling.  The
Hall's contracted building sum of £96,000 included £29,425 provisional costs; this was the
area where control was necessary, but by the fime the builder submitted his final account
this had risen to £41,760.(47)

The final area where spending exceeded reserves was the purchase of equipment; once
the building costs were met there simply were no raserves left.  The treasurer felt i
necessary to record his concem, as foliows:
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“The meeting between ourselves and the builder yesterday was
depressing......\What has been known throughout is the sum of money at our
disposat. It should have been apparent to those dealing directly with the work that
we were grossly overspending, but | was given no indication that the final sum due
to the builder would exceed... .until | received the interim payment certificate late |ast
month......the provisional costs and exiras have increased hy mare than 50%” at a
time when infiation is 4% buikling costs are competitive.....Quite simply we do not
have the means {to pay)....| am saddened by the lack of control that has allowed this
situation to arise.

Yau well know that | spoke against buying new furniture for the Hall before we knew
our final commitrment to the bullder, and we have been left, as a committee, looking
very foolish. We have ‘to come clean’ at the AGM

| have no doubt the money will be found and in a couple of years there will be no
regrets.  Action is needed now to deal with our immediate financial problemn. |
recorminena the following steps:

a ask the Parish Councif for a further grant of £5K,

b take up short term interest free loans where possible in the Parish,

e defer final payment to the architect,

d review the requirement for a caretaker — we cannot afford onel

e regenerate fund raising activities.
Proposal a shauld be put in hand without delay, and before the new committee is
elected on 27 April, sa that a positive report can be made at the AGM."(48)

' The increase in provisional costs fumed out to be 42%
What action was taken on the steps recommended by the treasurer? There was no bid

for more money from the Parish Council.  Interest free loans offers were made by
members of the Committee.  Final payments were not deliberately deferred as a matter
of policyfexpediency.  Retention of the caretaker became part of the negotiations when
setting an appropriate fee for hire of the Hall by the School. Fund raising activities and
appeals were regenerated.

The maney was found and the treasurers annual report bore no reference to the
difficulties that had been faced other than the comment “My forecast, made at this time
last year, that we need to continue 1o raise maney has proved correct”.(49)

It was tao laie to take any action relating to purchase af equipment. Tables, chairs,
crockery, sporis equipment and curtains were already being bought.  [f was not too late
to use the purchase of these items as the motivation for further fund raising. This had
been done, as the following appeal from Peter Willis, under the heading *And why not an
Orange Box’ indicates:
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“Picture the scene in a modern halt, warm and well lighted. Tantalising smells
coming from the kiichen and a hard wood polished floor you could eat your
dinner off — and that is the point — for at the moment... you could well be in the
position of drawing up an orange box and eating your meal off the floor.

What it amounts to is we are about £5,000 short of having the Hall with all the
facilities one could expect.  The major item is the furniture......

.....In the meantime please keep yowr eyes open for orange boxes, just in
case,"(50)
Thie appeal had significant success, and further donations were received, some from
neople who had not previcusly supported the concept of a new hall. But there was still a
financiat gap to be filled, as the treasurer's |etter four months later reveals. It would have
been necessary 1o call in those promised inferest free loans but for Devon County
Coungil.

The Council wished to ugse the Hall, during ferm time, for scheol lunches and also for
other activities on Wednesday mornings and afternoons.  Far this facility they initially
offered £3,200 per annum. A meeting between the Hall ‘executive’ and the Councit's
Property Department representative was heki, when it was pointed out that at the rent
offered the Hall would be subsidising the Council.  Negotiations were lengthy, indeed
they took over three hours, but terminated with an agreerment the Hall could accept. The
annual rent was raised to £4,600 payable in advance.(51)  This, other income eamed
ance the new Hall was opened, and the renewed appeal had saved the day. One year
later, the treasurer in his annual report noted “We have anly managed to keep our heads
above water by using the operating account to support capital ventures’(52).

Designing and Building the Hall

Whereas the history of the Hall given sa far in this paper has clearly identifiable sources,
such as official documents, filed cormespondence, recorded minutes, financial accounts,
and the Parish News, the sources of some of the factors taken inta ascount when
planning the new hall are less clearly referenced. These come from & bundlg of pupers
given the Litle 'miscellansous comespondence’.  For nine months, while the new
constitution was being grawn up, the Parish Hall Committee seemingly ceased to operate.
The last minutes of the ‘old’ committee were on 26 May 88, while the ‘new’ committee
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was not formed until 20 Feb 89. The development sub-committee continued to Function,
as dig the fund raising group, and while minutes recording the actions of these two groups
were faken it seermns they are no longer in existence. But the miscellanecus
correspondence bundie does ieave some trail of the progress of development planning.
By example, there is an interesting item from the Form Design Group {Architects —
Planers — Landscape — Surveyors) (sic). There is no covering letter, the report is
undated, and there are faw clues revealing how it may have been commissioned. 1tis
clearly the report mentioned at reference 25 above, is very informative, and is worth
quoting in full.

VILLAGE HALL DIPTFCRD — PRELIMINARY REPORT

Existing Building
A cursary inspection of the existing building suggests the foliowing:

(1) Aithough the building shows no signs of major defects other than a sagging
roof and bulging wail {probably due to undersized structural members) it is
clearly reaching the end of its economi¢ life. It must be expected that the
cost of maintaining it will escalate, and that the need for major repair could
arise at any time.

(2)  Renovatian of the hall to bring # up to present day standards would require
a great deal of work and it is unlikely that the basic structure is of sufficient
quality to warrant the necessary expanditure. Partial refurbishment would
leave the village with & less than satisfactory building and a continuing
(though reduced} maintenance problem.

(3) The existing accommodation is inconvenient and inadequate for some of the
us& to which it is put, and replanning is nesded to remedy this.

This confirms the opinian of the committee that the best optian to pursue, if funds
permit, is the reptacement of the hall with a new building.

Provision of Accommodation during rebuiiding

The retention of the existing hall during rebuiiding wauld create some difficulties.
Fram the approximaie dimensions available, it is apparent that a hall similar in size
to the existing one would occupy the whole of the site to the west of the present
building and would not give adequate working space for the buiider.

The acquisition of the strip of land immediately to the west would alleviate this
problem, but the siting and orientation of the building wouwld be dictated by the
space available, and the building would exiend some way down the slope. A
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feasibility study would establish whether or not a satisfactory building could be
designed within this area {perhaps on twa levels).

It is inadvisable for the temporary loss of the hall to compromise the design of a
new building, and the cornmittee should therefore be prepared to consider the
demalition of the existing building and prevision of temporary accommaodation prior
o the erection of a new one.
The report then details approximate costs of £81,000 for a 1500 square foot building,
excluding any costs of site acquisition, legal fees, or the provision of ternporary
accommodation. It also wamed that the volume of building work was increasing and, as

a result of reduced competition tenders were likely t¢ rise significantly over the coming
yoar, Af this point it is neted the old hall was some 1700 square foot, and & smaller hail

would hardly be a satisfactory solution. In the event the new hall is approximately 2000
square foat, and an the figures given above the estimate would have become £104,000.
Remarkably this is the same figure as the tender eventually accepted same years later
The report then went on:

Feasibility Study

We would suggest that a feasibility study should cover the foliowing:

{1)  Establish the requirements of the various building users in the form of a
functicna! brief.

(2)  Carry out a dimensional and level survey of the site.

(3) Investigate various options for the siting and layout of the building, including
considering the nesed far accommodation during rebuilding.

(4}  Develop the preferred aption into a preliminary sketch design.
{5)  Provide preliminary budget costs.

(6)  Suggest a programme for the project through design, approvals and |
constructicn stages.

it is probable that this project would be eligible for a grant under the RIBA
Community Projects Fund. Under this, up to £750 could be provided by the RIBA
to cover half the cost of a feasibility study canded out by an architect. Funds for
1878-88 have now been used up, but the scheme will be rekaunched in April of thig
year when arrangements have been agreed with the DOE. {53}

Mention has already been made of the speed with which Bryan Qstler had worked in
pursuit of a new constitution for the Hall. The Form Design report appears to pre-date



by several months the letter of complaint appearing at reference 30, and shows that
sneedy progress was also being made, under Vic Holloway as Chairman of the
devetopment sub-committee, in the area of planning a new hall.

Late in 1987 Vic Holloway bad produced a number of undated sife pians, working on the
principle of building a new hali while retaining the existing hall. These plans taok account
of levels, parking and access. It had becoerme clear that land boundaries were a limiting
factar and the passibility of extending the Parish Hall site was explorad.  Diptford may
seem a backwater to some, but Mr Woolland, owner of the land sought, now lived in
Knoydart, a remote part of the Hightands of Scotland accessible only by boat.  The
situation was explained to Mr Woolland as "one option is repfacement on the presen{ site
nerhaps S or W of the existing building to maintain continuous use.......... this option
would he greatly facilitated by the acquisition of a small amount of land from the adjacent
field belonging to vou.. ."(54)

Rapid progress was also being made with obtaining a feasibility study. One firm of
architects contacted was Pearn and Practor, with offices at Robarough.  In response to a
telephone enquiry they wrote “we would be very pleased to visit you and discuss the
options that you have so that a feasibility study grant application can be made, on your
kehalf.” {55}

Meanwhile response to a Round Robin letter (56), enguiring how other local parishes had
recently progressed in building new halls, is recorded as notes in the bundie of
miscallaneous correspondence at reference (53),revealed:

A new hall had been built at Blackawton in 1981. There had been no feasibility

study. A shell had been built and volunteer locat labour completed the job. but the
chairman and others involved were in the building trade.

A new hali, costing £60,000, had been built in Sparkwall in 1984, There had

been no feasibility study, but a local architect was on the hall committee. Two
thirds of the money required was obtained by way of County and District Council
grants, while haif of the remaining £20.000 was funded by granis from the Parish
Council and the Church. That a parish with a population of over a thousand raised
only the equivalent of £10 per head seems a modest effort indeed.

Most helpful was information on work in progress at Membury. In particular
Membury seemed in many respects to be very similar ta Diptford, as can be seen
from the following quote: "Membury...is a fairly scattered parish. ...with the village
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proper (plus school, church and shop) in the middle. {at this time Diptford had a
shop in the 'Old Bakery'] The electoral roll containg four hundred names with a
mix of farmers, retired people and a small influx of young professionals. The hall
is a corrugated iron building given as a reading room in 1910. Ten years ago we
built on & committee room, kitchen and toilets, in stone with a flat roof {a misiake).
We shall retain this medern bit, rebuild the oid hail in stone and cover the whaole
with a pitched roof.”

"“We are fortunate in having a lively young architect living in the village.... first he
nroduced a feasibility study which included four possible schemes, and our
committee ¢chose a combination of two of them. These he then worked into a
sketch study on which the committee vated to proceed........ The estimated cost of
the rebuitd is £62,000....... We assumed our share weould be £20,000....and that
the County and District Councils would put in £20,000 each.  We started in April
87 with four thousand in the bank and embarked on a fund raising project timed to
end in time to apply for grants at the latest date of Oct 1% (1988)7(56)

The letter then goes on to express concem an the 'obscure subject of VAT and to
describe Membury's fund raising activities with defails of the anticipated state of their
funds at the time of commencing building later in the year.  The matter of VAT was to
exercise minds at Dipfford later in their planning process.. it is interesting to note
Membury was expecting 75% of total funding to be met from public funds, yet it rapidly
became clear to Diptford that the maximum available was 70% up 1o a £70,000 grant
upper limit. But rules do change, and they may have been carrect at the time.  Other
resnonses showed ihat:

Al Buckland-in-the-Moor a new hall had been built in 1885 with Teignbridge
District Council drawing the plans free of charge, whike Bratten Clovelly also
built a new hall in 1885 using voluntary and Manpawer Services Agency labour.

Beaford meanwhile had built a new hall in 1980, without reference to an architect.
A local builder laid the base then London Brick Company came on site fo erect &
steel framed structure supporting concrete block work faced with local stone and
weather board lined.  Vic Holloway and Tony Redfermn visited Beaford to view the
hail and discuss fund raising with members of the hall committee. '

The experience of other parishestvillages in building new hail was 1o prove heipful.

20 February 1988 is a significant date; it was the day the 'Old’ Hall Committee held their
final meeting, a meeting to which the public had been invited. It was recorded that:

this was "the first AGM hekl under the scheme dated 14 Novemnber 1988. The
provisions of the scheme were explained to the 40 or so persons present by Mr
Bryan Ostler, who had been involved in production of the scheme. He explained
that a Chairman of the meeting would be required and proposed that the Rector,
the Rev P A D Willis should take the Chair.  This proposal was duly seconded and
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carried. The Chairman called on Mr V J Holloway, who had been chairman of the
development committee, to report on its activities.

Mr Holloway reported on the committee's confirmation of the view expressed in
public meetings that a new hall was required and on the steps that had been taken
in this connection. Other village halls had been visited and architects approached.
— (see above) - The Community Council of Devon had accepted the new scheme
as a basis for grant aid. It was the view of the Development Committee that their
functions should be taken over by the Committee of Management under the
Scheme. The Development Committee had invited the firm of Lucas Roberis &
Brown Partnership, Architects of Exeter, to advise on suitable methods of
construction and introduced Mr M Willis of that firm.

Mr Willis displayed various sketch plans on an overhead projector and explained
their significance. He estimated that a pre-fabricated building, which he
understood the committee had in mind, might cost between £70,000 and £120,000.
Questions were asked about the need for a new building, the sloping nature of the
site and car parking difficulties, the possibility of having a traditional construction,
the provision for the playing of badminton, and various other matters. These were
answered by the architect, Mr Holloway and Rev Willis. In the replies the
previously expressed public view that the existing hall was unsatisfactory was
underlined, and that money would be better spent on a new hall that in renovating
the old. The need to consider old people was mentioned and the possible
provision for a Post Office in the hall. It was hoped that the new hall would provide
greater comfort and adequate storage facilities. It was not contemplated that the
new hall would be very different in size from the existing one. The possibility of a
traditional building would probably be ruled out on cost.”(58)

The minutes of the GM record the names of the seven members of the new Hall
Committee representative of; the Parish Council, The PCC, the Play Group, the Youth
Club, the Guides and Brownies, the Women's Institute, and Friends of Diptford School. It
remained to vote by secret ballot to elect seven further committee members from eleven
proposed and seconded nominations received from the floor. That there were more
candidates than vacancies was most unusual. Seldom in recent history can this have
been the case for any committee in Diptford. It is indicative of the enthusiasm
parishioners had for building a new hall.

At the first Hall Management Committee meeting under the new constitution, which
followed the AGM on 20 February 1989, it was recorded that Mr and Mrs Woolland had
kindly offered to make available the strip of land adjoining the site of the Hall (59), it later
being declared conditional on the legal fees being paid by the Hall Committee (60).
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Progress was also being made regarding a feasibility study, A cheque for £431.23,
equating io 50% of the study’s cost, had been received from RIBA.{61) The minutes
further show that the firm of Lucas Roberts and Brown had undertaken the study.  The
study itself does not form part of the record availabie as source material supporting this
histary of the Hall. Michael Wiltis brother of Hall chairman Peter Willis was a senior
partner of the firm. By this stage discussion on what shape, in the broadest sense of the
word, the new hall should take were taking place at every meeting of the commities.  in
parficular the question of whether an ‘off the shelf’ prefabricated building or a custom built
hall was the correct option was being addressed.  As fund raising stifl had a long way to
go there was plenty of time to ‘fine tune’ the design process, and the decisions of the Hall

Cammittee formed the basis of a developing brief from which the architect was able to
wark.

By May 198% planning was sufficiently developed for proposed plans to be drawn up, by
the architect, for application for planning consent. (62) The planning application was
submitted to South Hams District Council on 15 May 1889, (63) and approved by the
Council on 7 July 1989. {64)

Fine tuning the 'shape’ of the new hali — in termns of space and facilities — bad continued,
and at a sub-committee meeting in April 1289 Vic Holloway submitted the latest of a
series of drawings reflecting thogse discussions. It was agreed that these drawings
should be considered the definitive plan, and should form the basis of ihe Hall
Commitiee’s requirements from which the architect could work. (65)

To get some idea of what may be possible a Performance Specification was sent by
Lucas Roberts and Brown, in July 1988, o a number of system building manufacturers.
with a request for provisional cost estimates. The companies inciuded Leofric Broadspan
Buildings, Devan Lady, Oakmoor, H Pee! Lt and & Wemick and Son. By Octaber the
following estimates had been received:

Oakmoor £132,745

H Peel Lid F152, 558

5 Wernick & Son  £191,796 (88)
Faced with these estimates the Hall Committee decided to seek a meeting between
Dakmoor, the architect and members of the Committee to explore ways of reducing the
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costs. At the same time estimates would be sought from conventional builders against
the same performance specification. {67}

By this time conveyance for the transfer of the additicnal strip of land from Mr & Mrs
Wooland, (see reference 54), to the Hall had been completed.

Meanwhile the threat of having to pay VAT on the building costs was being addressed on
a number of fronts.  Meeting the costs of building and equipping a new hail was to prove
a close run thing (see Reference 52).  And as it turned out VAT wouki have added
£19.000 to the building costs {see Reference 47), money that it may not have been
possible ta raise, though on reflection the Parish Council contribution could well have
been significantly increased.  One question arising was the status of covenants.  1f
donors specifically required their cantributions to be used in buikiing a new hali, couid
their covenants be cancelled and the money returned if na hall was built? That question
was directed at the Inland Revenue. (BB) Far the ‘tax man' this would be familiar territory
and a simple question to answaer, but the payment of VAT itself was altogether difierent.
As the threat of VAT had arisen from the United Kingdom’s membership of the Eurcpean
Economic Community, the advice of Lord O'Hagan, the Member of the European
Parliament for Devon, was sought thus:

“If my infermation is comrect there is curfently an intertion to deprive village halis of
VAT zero rating for both capital and revenue purposes. | am told that it has been
claimed that letting halls constitutes a ‘business activity'.

| write an behalf of this small village which has titerally no other amenity and which,
at the present time is struggling to raise funds to rebuild a rather decrepit struciure,
The addition of VAT at this stage would wreck out pians.

In any case for this, and presumably most villages, such a ciaim is surely wrong.
No profttis made. The hall is managed as a charity technically, legally and
practically. | hope you will be able to heip. (69)

This letter was copied to Anthony Steen, the locai Member of Padiament, with the added
hope that he would be able add his voice in applying pressure on the Chancellor of the
Excheguer.

Lord O’'Hagan was prompt in responding.  His reply (70) puts the problem inte context
and is given below:
| shali do my best to be of some help. atthough 1 am not confident that | can.
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The European Court of Justice ruled last June that the British Government was
applying existing European Comminuty legislation on VAT too namowly. We as a
country are now ohliged to widen the net to be cast over activities liable for VAT io
include the provision of services like electricity, gas, water and new buiding

Nobady can el how the British Government is going te put this ruling into effect
until we see the Finance Bill after the Budget. However it is likely that Village
Halls will be included for the purposes that | have menfioned, unless the
Government is able to devise same method of satisfying European Community law
without hitting Village Halls.

| can assure you that no-one in Brussels wants fo attack Village Halls but the ruling
of the Court of Justice was merely intended to ensure that the British Government
was complying with legislation which had been put on our statute books [albeit not
correctly) for welt over a decade.
The reply was copied to Anthony Steen, who meanwhile had written to Peter Brooke,
Chatrman of the Conservative Parly, regarding the concem.  This in turn sparked a
response from Peter Liley, at the Treasury, to Anthony Steen. (71 In s0 much as the

reply gives an insight into the workings of Whitehall, significant elements are given below.

The response starts with a very much fait accompli resume of the general situation
regarding the effect of VAT zero rates on village halis, saying proposals were in the
Finance Bill to implement the Cort's ruling, that Customs had published draft clauses to
give those affected an opportunity to prepare for introduction, and that "we have gone as
far as we can...to minimise the hurden of tax and compliance.”  Not much

encouragement there then.

It then went on to say that the judgment enabled retention of “zero-rating for canstruction
___._jor charities for non-business purposes”. Peter Lilley then wrote:

_.under VAT law the definition of business activities is drawn very widely. |t
would include hiring out village halls to local groups and for private parties. We
are therefora obliged to levy VAT on construction of new village halls......(unless
ihe halls owners are not engaged in the business activity of hiting them ouf).
However, | have asked Customs to continue discussions with the Village Halls
Forum to see if there are any ways in which the impact on them can be mitigated.

A long paragraph follows suggesting it might be possible for village halls to opt to charge
VAT on their lettings and claim back the VAT, But reading this paragragh carefully it
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rapidly becomes clear that this is not a realistic aption.  All is not last, for he comes up
with a further option. The further aptien suggested was:

..for village halls to cease to make set charges and merely invite voluntary
donations from the groups who use their premises. Since this would be outside the
definition of business, village halls who did this would be eligible for the general
relief. .. ... to chanties for non-business purpases.

By this time | wonder ¥ Peter Lilley read the letter before signing #. it is 80 badly writtan |
want to send the letter back, covered in red ink, to whoever had drafted it. Peter Lilley
gonciuded by saying:

| greatly sympathise with the widespread concem about the impact on village halls
of the EC Court judgment. But as you know it is not the Govemment which has
instigated these changes in VAT liabilities. ........ The Courf's ruling interprets the
EC Sixth VAT Directive to which the then UK Govemment gave its assert in 1977.
The UK is obliged to implement the Court rulings.

It is not difficult to imagine the concern this 'view from the top’ caused back in Diptford.
The Customs and Excise VAT Office in Exeter was contacted (72), to confirm that the
advice received was comect, and o request the forms necessary to register for VAT as a
husiness. Meanwhile Lord O'Hagan had not given up ihe fight; as shown in a letter
written to Peter Brooka (73), and repraduced below.

There has been a great deal of anguish in Devon about the proposal to impese VAT
on Village Halls.

| understand that the Govemment accepis that zero rating of construction, fuel and
power can continue for Village Halls conducting 'non-business’ purposes.

It seems that no British Finance Act defines the term business for VAT purposes; the
interpretation of this important word has been left in the hands of Her Majesty's
Customs who have always given it a very broad meaning.

Some other member states have a less all-embracing definiion.  For exampie, in
the Nethedands, in order to conduci a ‘'business’, an arganization must be
established for the purpose of taking part in ‘economic life’. | am now writing to your
to ask the Govemment to make some marginal adjustments to Her Majesty’s
Customs own interpretation of the word 'business’, which will be perfecly possible
under European Community law. After all, HM Customs have already decided that
providing ‘Meals on Wheels’ for a charge below cost, or providing religious services
for a fee, is not a ‘business’.

The Government is being narrow-minded and pedantic i you insist on including
Village Halls within the VAT net allegedly because of the recent nling of the
European Gourt of Justice. The root of the difficulty & the 1972 Finance Act, which
defines business for VAT purposes, not the sixth VAT Directive or the Court
judgemaent.
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Meanwhile HM Customs and Excise in Exeter had rapidly replied to the Hall Management
Committees letter. Their reply {74) was good news indeed. It stated....

AT if the 'business use’ of the hall is to be less than 10% of the total use, this
‘business use’ may he disregarded and the hafl can be reparded as entirely non-
business, and provided tha hall is constructed for a charity, it may be zere rated as a
nan-business charity bailding.”
In essence this meant that less than 10% of the Halt's income could come from ventures
such as rental from commercial companies, perhaps auctioning ‘barkrupt ar fire damaged
stock’, or selling ‘criental carpets’.  To this could be added income from private funclions
such as wedding receptions and fund raising events where the hirer and/or the funds
raised had no connection with the parish. H is highly unlikely that any more than
marginal income would ever come from such sources and VAT on the canstruction costs

was no longer a threat.

if an officer of HM Customs and Excise in Exeter knew this was the case, it seems
strange that only two months earlier the Treasury was unaware of the ‘fen percent ruie’.
But full marks to Lord O'Hagan.

First there had been the need for new constitution, then, in parailel, the detailed planning
and fund raising for a new Hail. it had been a long road but at last afl the blocks were
falling into place.

Going Out to Tender for the New Hall

The unexpectedly high cost estimates received from system build manufacturers forced
the Committee to look at the conventional build option. Six local builders were invited to
submit estimates with the fallowing outcome:

G A Williams £83080

Perring and Son  £96370

C G Tregelles £126000
Provisianal costs for water connection, drains and professional fees amounted to a further
£6.5K, and costs were estimated to increase by 12% % over the next twelve months.{75)
Fox and Downing, A & S Builders, and Westward Developments were unahle to respond
to the invitation.



Based on the estimate frorn G A Williams Grant Applications were made to South Hams

District Counail in May 1590, but it was known that no grant was available from the
Community Caouncil for Devon during the financial year 80/91.(78)

Discussions on the detailed specification continued through the following months, with
separate sub-commitiees set up to consider ihe specifications for Hall, Kitchen and
Starage.(77) This time was very well spent, and the detailed specification had heen
extensively refined by March 1991 when it was confirned that funding grants of £30K
from South Hams District Council, £30K from the Community Councit for Devon and £10K
from the Rural Bevelopment Council had been awarded.(78) The variatians made 1o the
originai specification, which was dated March 1990, had added nearly £8K to the bullding
costs, but £4385 of this was due to price increases over the year.  These had besn
caiculated as 7¥:% and not 12%% as had heen forecast.

The contract was signed, on & June 1991, in tha sum of £96K.(79) [ provided that work
may commence on 3 June 1881 and shail be complete by 1 November 1981, Damages
for non-completion were rated at £350 per month.  This is slightly at variance wiih the
£100 per week damages recarded in the Committee minutes a week [ater. (80)

Building can seldem progress without some inconvenience to the public. The new hall
was no excepltion. Even before the wark commenced two |etters had been received from
Mr Green of Church House, who had always been against building the hall, complaining
of the possibilty aof inconvenience and disturbance because of the propased building
works (81).  The coniractor was informed of the ‘sensitivity’, but the problem was not
geing to go away.  In faimess Mr Green accepted the situation and was indeed heipful,

as the following lefter to Peter Stewart, written just after work commenced, shows.(82)

Dear Mr Stewart

Your contractor approached me this afterncon and asked if | would be willing to et
him use my outside tap for the making of cement. As | am anxious to
accammodate your Committee as far as possible | agreed to this arrangement.
However | shall require a written underiaking that should the Water Board for same
reason charge me anything above the normal flat rate which | now pay you and
your Committee will make yourselves responsible or any such payment.

Yours faithiully

A A Green

43



Other concerns raised verbally were dealt with, including reducing noisy ‘dumper fruck’
runs between the car parking space in front of the church and the building site.(83) As
the wark neared completion a further letter was received {84}

Mr Stawart

The building of the new parish hall may have been a minor inconvenience fo the
village. It has developed into a major inconvenience to us.  Will you please
request the contractor to fidy up the frontage to our house (tfis probably relafes fo
the car parking space which Mr Green elsewhere described as ‘raputediy
belonging to the church’) — at present it looks like a slum.

A litie more orderly parking of the tradesmen’s persanal transport would be
appreciated.

A A Green

The main building wark was eventually complete, some four months late towards the end
of February 1952 Recognizing the inconvenience the Greens had suffered Vic
Holloway sent Joan and Bunny Green a bouguet and a bottle of gin, with apologies for the
nuisance and thanks for the water supply. Joan replied —

To the Parish Hall Cemmittee

Thank you very much for the lovely flowers, which | have arranged so that anyone
passing, | hope will see themy and on Mr Green's behalf for the ‘refreshment
(much needed on occasion in the past months!)

| hope the use of the new hali will be much enjoyed.

Joan Green {83}

But the sore had not completely healed, as the following letter shows.

Dear Mr Stewart

| am fold by the headmaster that the school meals will not be served in the new
hail before the beginning of the Summer Temn. Perhaps you wili be good enough
to inform me in writing why the present arrangements cannot be transferred tol the
new hall as from the third week in February 19582 when the building will have been
handed over by the builders. This would enable the Portacabin to be removed
from the beginning of the half term with benefit tu charge payers including mysel
tegether with the end of the chaos which occurs in this cul-de-sac every time there
is & mass intrusion of vehicies.

Yours faithfully

A A Green (86)

The background to this request is that a Portacabin had been placed in the Church car
park for use as a schoo! dining room.  its use would cover the period from the old hall
being taken out of commission uniil the facilities of the new hall were brought on line.
This arrangement had been between the School and the Local Authority — nothing to do
with the Halt - and so the query was passed on to South Hams District Council for reply.



The question of whether the land in guestion belongs to the Local Authority, or to the
Church remains, but as the Hall Committee did not have to get permission from the
Council ta use the site, and the Rector was alsa Chairman of the Hall Committes, it may
be possible to draw the conclusion that it is indeed Church land.

Completion

Builders frequently advertise “New Homes for Sale”.  There can be no such thing.
Builders can only erect buildings, it is the people that live in those buildings who stamp
their individuality upon them and turn them info *homes”.  So it was with the Hall. The
builder handed it over and those finishing touches necessary to complete the filting cut
and equipping the buikling were donated from within the local community.  Peter Willis,
the Chairman, wrote in the Parish News {87}

The Committes has greatly appreciated your co-operation and help and we hope

you can be rightly proud of your new Halt - for it is your hall, your own Parish Hall

No doubt vou will have many comments, and no doubt you will tell us! We have
done our hest and have tried to be very respansible on your behalf...... but very soon
you wiil be able to judge for yourseif........The Hall will be open for your inspection
an 21* and 22™ February.
On the evening of Friday 21, and the afternoon and evening of Saturday 22"
parishioners flooded in to 'inspect’ the new facilities, to enjoy a free glass of wine, and to
view the exhibiticn of photographs and memorabilia. The comparison between cld and
new halls was absolue in its clarity. Had any of the small handful of oppanents to the

project attended they would surely have been won over.

In November 1988, when the project got under way, ihe assets of the Parish Hall
comprised £2247.16 in the bank and an aged building that was a liability rather than a
realisable asset. Just over three years later, by strange co-incidence, the Parish Hall still
had £2280 in the bank (88). But in ptace of the potential liability the Parigh now had
property valued at over £163,000. This was a truly remarkable achievement when it is
recognized that ali but £85,000 had been raised within the Parish.

The next few months were spent on equipping and improving the Hall. A carelaker was
appointed. A ‘den’ for the Youth Club was created in the void under the Hall. Flowers
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and shrubs were planted in the grounds. Leisure equipment was acqguired.  But what
gave greatest satisfaction was the high leve! of bookings for use of the Hail.

Aftentian was turned to planning the ‘official opening’ of the Halk. Help, mainly
financial, in building the Hall had come from many directions. The lead funding body had
been South Hams District Council, once their support had been obtained matching
funding from the Community Council for Devon foliowed.  Then there was the Rural
Development Commission and Tioxide. Diptford had many paople to thank, inciuding
local governrent officers, councillors, and the local Member of Padiament and Member of
the European Parfiament.  The date for the opening ceremeny, 27" October 1992, was
determined by the availability of the Earl of Moriey, who had graciously accepted the
invitation to perform the official opening. Lord Morey was not only Chairman of the
Gommunity Councit for Devon, but also the Lord Lieutenant of Devon so it was
particularly appropriate that he was able accept. Joining him in the ceremonies was
Councillor Mrs Jeanne Thomson, Chaimman of South Hams District Council, and Mr David
Busby, Tioxide Company Secretary.

Press, radio and television were on the invitation Bist alohg with many parishioners
representing those organizations that were principal users of the Hall, and those who had
played a part in the 'New Hall Project’. A speciat invitation was made to Mr A A Green.
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